IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DONALD DAVID DILBECK, :
 Appellant, :
v. :
STATE OF FLORIDA, :
 Appellee. :
_____ :

CASE NO. 77,752

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This lengthy brief raises several issues of importance for this court to consider. The most significant (at least from an administration of justice standpoint) is whether Rule 3.220 Fla. R. Crim. P. applies to the sentencing portion of a capital trial. Donald Dilbeck is the defendant in this case. The record on appeal consists of 17 volumes and references to it will be indicated by the letter "T."

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An indictment filed in the Circuit Court for Leon County on July 10, 1990 charged Donald Dilbeck with one count of first degree murder, armed robbery, and armed burglary, to which he pled not guilty (T 2867-68, 2881). The pre-trial activity in the case proceeded in the normal course of such affairs, with the State and defendant filing several pertinent motions or requests relevant to this appeal:

1. Motion for a Special Verdict Form (T 3033). The court apparently granted Dilbeck's request that the jury be able to indicate if the murder was committed with premeditation or during the course of a felony or both (T 3088).

2. Motion in Limine filed by the state to prevent the defendant's expert witness, Dr. Robert Berland from testifying in the guilt phase of the trial about Dilbeck's mental conditions less than insanity (T 3055-56). Conceded with objection (T2840, 2847).

3. Motion in Limine filed by the state to prevent introduction, during the penalty phase of the trial, of evidence relating to the defendant's mother's insanity and the nature of the various prisons Dilbeck had been housed at (T 3058-59). Granted in part.

Dilbeck proceeded to trial before Judge F.E. Steinmeyer, and the jury convicted him as charged (T 3084-87). It also found that he had committed the murder with premeditation and during the course of a felony (T 3088).

The court then heard evidence and argument during the penalty phase, and the jury, by a vote of 8-4 recommended death (T 3089). The court accordingly sentenced the defendant to that penalty finding in aggravation:

1. That the capital felony was committed by a person under sentence of imprisonment.

2. The defendant was previously convicted of another capital felony.

3. The capital felony was committed while the defendant was engaged in the commission of or flight after committing a robbery, and burglary.

4. The capital felony was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest or effecting an escape from custody.

5. The capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel (T 3160-64).

In mitigation, the court found:

1. The capacity of the defendant to conform his conduct to requirements of the law was substantially impaired.

2. The defendant suffered an abused and deprived childhood.

3. The defendant suffered from brain damage due to his mother's consumption of three to four six-packs of beer a day throughout her pregnancy.

4. The defendant suffers from a mental illness.

5. The defendant's mental illness and brain damage can be treated. This was found but not given "any substantial weight."

6. The defendant entered one of Florida's most violent prisons at an unusually early age.

7. The defendant has been a good, well-behaved inmate.

8. The defendant has the love and support of his family (T 3167-71).

As to the other offenses, the court sentenced Dilbeck two consecutive terms of life in prison for the armed robbery and armed burglary convictions (T 3157-58).

This appeal follows.

III STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The events giving rise to Donald Dilbeck's murder of Faye Vann in Tallahassee on June 24, 1990 began before his birth. Donald and Audrey Hosey already had a two year old daughter when the wife discovered that she was pregnant. Apparently, she had a drinking problem before and during the time she carried the child who would become Donald Dilbeck because she drank eighteen to twenty-four cans of beer every day (T 2261). She also had severe mental problems, and eventually her husband left her after she had beat him with a baby bottle and ripped all his clothes with a knife (T 2262-63). He might be the next object of her knife assaults, and he did not want to be killed as he slept (T 2263).

After Audrey's husband left, the two children had to fend for themselves as best they could because Hosey would not take care of them (T 2253). She resorted to prostitution and may have been a lesbian (T 2416-17, 2253-54), and her daughter said she had sexually molested her and physically beaten her¹ and her brother up. Neighbors confirmed the mother's odd behavior (T 2413-16), and the children suffered from her increasing insanity. Hosey would have the children pray constantly, and if they stopped, she beat them (T

¹Cindy was hospitalized twice for injuries she received at the hands of her mother (T 2254).

2251). As part of this ritual, she stuffed Donald's and his sister's mouths with cotton and taped them so they could not spit out the cotton (T 2288).

Fortunately, the two children were taken from their natural mother when Donald was 4 1/2 years old (T 1704) and placed in a foster home. Cindy was soon adopted, but the family that chose her did not want the boy (T 2249-50). Another couple, the Dilbecks, adopted him when he was six years old (T 2551).

By all accounts this elderly couple deeply loved Donald, and he became the center of their lives (T 2549). All was not well with the boy, and when he was thirteen, he began heavily using speed and marijuana. By the time he was 15, his sister, whom he had fortuitously found four years earlier, wanted nothing to do with him because he was using drugs (T 2248).

By 1979, the Dilbecks were living in Indiana. Donald was 15 and one night in March of that year, while high on "speed," he broke into a car parked in the front of Philip Reeder's house, ostensibly to steal a "CB" radio (T 2275). Reeder caught the boy, and he planned only to take him inside his house, give him a warning, and let him go (T 2576). As he was escorting him, Dilbeck took out his knife and stabbed the man in the chest and fled (T 2580). Several days later, the police took a picture of him, and the defendant, apparently reacting to this development, stole a car and fled to Florida (T 2276).

Two days later, Deputy Hall of the Lee County Sheriff's Office found Dilbeck in the car parked on the beach (T 2208). He questioned the boy and eventually demanded some identification (T 2208). Stalling for time, Dilbeck opened the trunk, ostensibly to get his driver's license (which he did not have) and the policeman saw a pipe used to smoke marijuana (T 2277). He told the youth he would have to arrest him, at which he hit the officer and ran. He was soon tackled, and during the ensuing struggle, the defendant got the policeman's gun and shot him twice (T 2278). He was arrested a short time later.

Dilbeck pled guilty to first degree murder and was sentenced to life in prison without the possibility of parole for twenty-five years (T 2187). He spent several years at Sumpter Correctional Institution, which at that time was the most violent prison in the state. Dilbeck was raped several times, and the abuse eventually ended when he became the lover of a man thirty years old (T 2280-81). He was sixteen years old at this time (T 2205).

He was eventually transferred to Avon Park Correctional Institution and finally to the Gretna Vocational Center in Quincy (T 2304, 2306). Throughout his stay in the state's prisons he had received only a couple of disciplinary reports, and various prison officials uniformly rated him as among the very best adjusted inmates (T 2419-20).

Dilbeck, however, wanted to escape, and over five years earlier, he had tried but failed to do so (T 2421). When transferred to the Gretna Vocational Center in the early part of 1990, he was training to be a cook, and he later moved to the unit that catered to public functions outside of the institution (T 1973-74). He had been trusted enough so that by 22 June 1990 he had helped at several events (T 1974). On that date, one of the guards was not watching Dilbeck, and he slipped away (T 1974).

It took him two days to reach Tallahassee, and during that time he slept only three hours and ate only a couple of doughnuts (T 1977-78). When he got to town, tired, hungry, and with blistered feet (T 1978), he called a friend in Orlando who had promised to help him if he escaped (T 1975). Despite many repeated efforts, no one answered the telephone (T 1978). Dilbeck had decided he would kidnap someone who was driving a car and take them to a deserted road so he could learn to drive (he had not driven in eleven years) (T 1980).

By this time, it was about 3 p.m., and Dilbeck was near Gayfer's Department Store in the Tallahassee Mall. It was a Sunday, the store was busy, as evidenced by the parking lot which was half full (T 1669). As he stood outside he saw Faye Vann park her car and several people get out and go inside (T 1654-65).

He went to her and told the woman that she was going to take him for a ride (T 1981). She refused and began to honk

the car's horn. Dilbeck tried to stop her, and as he did so, his hat fell into the car (T 1981). He opened the door, and she grabbed his hair (T 1981). He got in the car and as the two people struggled, he stabbed Vann several times with a small paring knife he had bought that morning (T 1978-79, 1981). She was cut in the stomach, neck, and face (T 1913-1917). The fatal blow was to the neck in which Dilbeck cut a major vein or artery (T 1931-32). The blood went down her windpipe, and Vann drowned in her own blood (T 1933).

Dilbeck tried to drive her car, but after hitting other vehicles, he abandoned the effort and fled (T 1672, 1724). Several minutes earlier, a security officer had seen the struggle, and she alerted her boss, who investigated the matter. As Dilbeck left the car, the man told the defendant to come with him, but instead he ran behind a nearby store. The guard climbed the hill behind it, and as Dilbeck came up, looking lost and scared, he again told him to come with him. Instead, the defendant told him to get out of the way or he would kill him, and he hit the man and fled across Monroe Street (T 1727, 1734).

By this time, the police had been alerted, and the security guard got into a car and followed Dilbeck. He eventually wound up in a drainage ditch running back and forth, yelling, "I already killed one of ya'll, a cop. Kill me. I'm going to the chair anyway." (T 2228) He apparently scrambled out of the culvert and was arrested a short time later

(T 1770). He was taken to the county jail, and when he got there he was so exhausted that he had to be wheeled inside (T 1785). He was also so thirsty that he drank ten glasses of water (T 1798).

IV SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Dilbeck presents 10 issues, 3 guilt phase and 7 penalty phase, for this court to consider. The first deals with the routine problem of the impartiality of the prospective jurors and the court's rulings regarding whether they could be fair and impartial. One juror said that she would automatically vote death if the defendant was found guilty of murdering a policeman. Although this case does not involve that scenario, Dilbeck had earlier committed such a crime. There was a reasonable fear that this prospective juror could not have been fair. Another juror had a bias against psychologists. He should have been excused because Dilbeck should not have had to overcome that prejudice for the juror to consider his experts. Finally, a third prospective juror said he would follow the law as long as it did not conflict with God's law. He could give no assurances that he would ignore it if it conflicted with what the court instructed him. He should have been excused.

Dilbeck wanted to present evidence that because of his mental defects he could not have formed the necessary premeditated intent to commit a first degree murder. The trial court, relying upon this court's ruling in Chestnut v. State, 538 So.2d 820 (Fla. 1989) precluded him from doing that. In this issue, the defendant asks this court to reconsider its ruling in that case. As argued, such evidence was logically relevant and constitutionally allowed.

The state, over defense objection, was allowed to have its psychologist examine Dilbeck for purposes of the penalty phase. The court said that such examination was required by fundamental fairness. The rules of discovery, however, in general or Rule 3.220(f) in particular do not authorize such ruling. Moreover, the analogy with the insanity plea is faulty, and there is nothing fundamentally unfair with denying the state the right to examine the defendant. It has other, effective means of destroying the weight of the defense expert's testimony.

The State's expert, Dr. Harry McClaren, presented almost thirty reasons to justify his conclusion that Dilbeck had goal oriented behavior. Such testimony should not have been allowed because it provided no clarification of conflicting and confusing evidence. All it amounted to was a closing argument from the witness stand. Likewise, the issue of Dilbeck's ability to have goal oriented behavior was much too broad, and even if narrowed to the time of the murder, lacked any relevancy to the issues to be decided in the penalty phase of the trial.

The court instructed the jury that it could consider Dilbeck's flight as evidence of guilt. Merely fleeing from the scene of a crime does not inevitably become flight. More fundamentally, such an instruction is untenable in light of this court's rejection of the standard jury instruction on circumstantial evidence. For the same reasons this court

rejected that guidance to the jury, it should reject this instruction on this special form of circumstantial evidence.

The trial court gave the jury the standard instruction on the aggravating factor especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel. That was constitutionally defective because it provided no guidance for it.

In any event, this murder was not especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel. Although stabbings often are such, in this case, Dilbeck's extensive mental disabilities prevented him from "enjoying" the killing, a requirement for this aggravating factor to apply.

The court also found that Dilbeck committed the murder to effectuate an escape. The defendant, however, had completed that two days earlier and forty miles away from where the murder occurred. When he killed Faye Vann, he was fleeing, not escaping.

Dilbeck has overwhelming mitigation, which upon a proportionality review, dictates a life sentence. He is brain damaged resulting from Fetal Alcohol Effects. This means he lacks any ability to make judgments and he has no impulse control. As a child his mother abused him physically and perhaps sexually to a degree the trial court acknowledged was shocking. Finally, at the age of 16 he was put in the most violent prison in Florida where he was routinely raped and assaulted.

Such terrible mitigation explains this boy better than the aggravation, and it explains why he has done what he has been convicted of committing. He is a dangerous man, but his prison record shows that he is an exemplary prisoner. He is not one of those who should be sentenced to death.

Finally, the court instructed the jury that death was the appropriate sentence if the mitigation did not outweigh the aggravation. That was an erroneous instruction because the eight jurors who recommended death could have done so because the mitigation and aggravation had equal weight. That is not the law in Florida, which requires the aggravation to outweigh the mitigation, the implication being that if they do not life is the appropriate sentence. What the court told the jury was the opposite: if the mitigation did not outweigh the aggravation, death should be recommended.

V ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT SEVERAL PROSPECTIVE JURORS WERE EITHER QUALIFIED OR NOT TO SIT IN THIS CASE, IN VIOLATION OF DILBECK'S SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS.

Challenging a trial court's exercise of its discretion in excusing or refusing to remove prospective jurors is not an easy task because the appellant must show that the court manifestly abused its discretion in acting or not. Davis v. State, 461 So.2d 67 (Fla. 1984). To prevail in this case, Dilbeck must use the test this court articulated for juror competency in Lusk v. State, 446 So.2d 1038, 1041 (Fla. 1984):

Can the juror lay aside any bias or prejudice and render his verdict solely upon the evidence presented and the instructions on the law as given to him by the court.

Applying that standard, courts should use the rule adopted in Singer v. State, 109 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1959) when a prospective juror's competency to serve has been challenged:

[I]f there is a basis for any reasonable doubt as to any juror's possessing that state of mind which will enable him to render an impartial verdict based solely on the evidence submitted and the law announced at the trial, he should be excused on motion of a party, or the court on its own motion.

Id., at 23-23; accord, Moore v. State, 525 So.2d 870 (Fla. 1988); Hill v. State, 477 So.2d 553 (Fla. 1985). Jurors, in short, must not only be impartial, they should be "beyond even the suspicion of partiality." O'Connor v. State, 9 Fla. 215,

222 (1860). If any question remains regarding a juror's fairness, the court should excuse him. Sydleman v. Benson, 463 So.2d 533 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985).

In Hill, prospective juror Johnson said he would vote for a death sentence if the defendant had committed a premeditated and felony murder. This court reversed Hill's sentence of death because a reasonable doubt existed that this juror had the state of mind necessary to render an impartial sentencing recommendation. In Thomas v. State, 403 So.2d 371 (Fla. 1981), a juror, as in Hill, said that under no circumstances could he recommend a life sentence if the defendant was guilty. This court reversed, relying upon the rule established in Singer.

On a constitutional level, in Wainwright v. Witt, 469 U.S. 412, 105 S.Ct. 844, 83 L.Ed.2d 841 (1985), the United States Supreme Court receded from the strict standard lower courts had applied in evaluating the excusal for cause of death scrupled jurors and reinterpreted the standard originally announced in Witherspoon v. Illinois, 391 U.S. 510, 88 S.Ct. 1770, 20 L.Ed.2d 776 (1968). Witherspoon required a showing of unmistakable clarity that the juror's beliefs would cause him to automatically vote for life without considering a death sentence. In Witt, the Supreme Court adopted language from its decision in Adams v. Texas, 448 U.S. 38, 100 S.Ct. 2521, 65 L.Ed.2d 581 (1980), and restated the standard:

We therefore take this opportunity to clarify our decision in Witherspoon, and to reaffirm the above quoted standard from Adams as the proper standard for

determining when a prospective juror may be excluded for cause because of his or her views on capital punishment. That standard is whether the juror's views would "prevent or substantially impair the performance of his duties as a juror in accordance with his instructions his oath." We note that in dispensing with Witherspoon's reference to "automatic" decision-making, this standard likewise does not require that a juror's bias be proved with "unmistakable clarity."

Witt, at 424. (footnote omitted)

This standard also applies to prospective jurors, who as in this case, favor the death penalty to the point that they would impose it regardless of whatever mitigation was presented. Ross v. Oklahoma, 487 U.S. 81, 108 S.Ct. 2273, 101 L.Ed.2d 80, 88 (1988); Hill v. State, 477 So.2d 553 (Fla. 1985); Thomas v. State, 403 So.2d 371 (Fla. 1981). Under either standard, the trial court erred in not excusing several prospective jurors Dilbeck challenged for cause.

HORACINE LAWRENCE

Ms. Lawrence said, in response to defense counsel's questioning, that she would have automatically recommended death if Dilbeck had killed a policeman.

Q. If the case presented to you was one where a police officer was killed, if you felt like the mitigating outweighed the aggravating, could you ever recommend a sentence of life?

A. Uh-uh. It would have to be death.

Q. If a police officer was murdered, in your view, you would have to vote for death?

A. Yes.

(T 61).

Counsel objected to Ms. Lawrence, relying upon Witt in that her views "would substantially interfere with [her] decision." (T 64) The court denied the objection because this case did not involve that scenario. Additionally, "You asked her specifically the questions concerning this case and she did indicate to you that could vote for a life sentence under the scenario of this case." (T 66)

Dilbeck's lawyer had posed a series of hypotheticals for Lawrence (and the other members of the venire to consider). He asked each prospective juror if they could recommend a life sentence, assuming the mitigating circumstances outweighed the aggravating factors, if the defendant

- a. had raped the victim.
- b. had raped and murdered the victim.
- c. had committed a brutal murder.
- d. had murdered a policeman
- e. had committed a prior second degree murder.
- f. had committed a prior first degree murder, been sentenced to life in prison and then killed someone else.

(T 60-62).

To all of these hypotheticals, except for the one involving the policeman, Lawrence arguably could have recommended a life sentence (T 60-62).² Of course, as the

²Actually, regarding the second degree murder and the brutal murder, she said she could "possibly" recommend life, but it would not be easy (T 60-62).

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