IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
JUN 3 1992
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
ByChief Deputy Clerk

DONALD DAVID DILLBECK,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 77,752

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, FLORIDA

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN M. SNURKOWSKI ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 158541

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

####

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

Dillbeck argues that "the issue thus becomes whether the 'catch-all' provision of Rule 3.220(f) is broad enough to justify the State's discovery demands for the penalty phase of the (Appellant's Brief at 55). Pointing to Maxwell v. trial." State, 443 So.2d 967 (Fla. 1983), and Burns v. State, So.2d (Fla. Decided May 16, 1991), 16 F.L.W. S389, rehearing granted and decision pending, Dillbeck argues that the current discovery rule does not apply to sentencing. Whether this is so is of no consequence because the trial court did not allow the examination of Dillbeck pursuant to Rule 3.220(f), Fla.R.Crim.P.<sup>1</sup> Rather, the trial court determined it would not be fundamentally fair to not permit an examination where there was no rule that prevented it and more importantly, the prosecution had given a justifiable reason for requesting said examination. In that regard, the question then becomes did the trial court abuse his discretion in allowing Dr. Harry McClaren to examine Dillbeck. The answer, of course, is no.

Rule 3.780, Rules of Criminal Procedure sets out the procedures to be used in a capital proceeding pursuant to §921.141, Fla.Stat. Nothing contained therein provides that the court is without discretion to entertain evidence or permit the gathering of evidence when a party has demonstrated the need for same. For example, the trial court has the discretion in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The State would submit that discovery rules have been applied to sentencing, <u>see Gardner v. Florida</u>, 430 U.S. 349 (1977), and <u>Jacobs v. State</u>, 357 So.2d 169 (Fla. 1978).

obtaining presentence investigation reports or updates, see Rose v. State, 461 So.2d 84 (Fla. 1984), and Jackson v. State, 366 So.2d 752 (Fla. 1978), however, the court cannot dispense with evidence during the penalty phase of the capital case without first giving the parties an opportunity to present their evidence to an advisory jury where the record shows that the jury's verdict at the guilt phase legally permitted the death penalty if other factual issues warranted the penalty. See State v. Ferguson, 556 So.2d 462 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1990). Likewise, it is within the sound discretion of the trial court to decide whether a continuance ought to be granted between the guilt phase and the penalty phase in a capital trial or whether certain evidence will in fact be admitted.

Moreover, in light of this Court's pronouncement with regard to the trial court's responsibilities in determining mitigation pursuant to Campbell v. State, 571 So.2d 415 (Fla. 1990), and Nibert v. State, 574 So.2d 1059 (Fla. 1990), it has become imperative that the State be given a fair and full opportunity to explore rebut inaccurate or incorrect misleading and or "mitigation" that may be presented. In Nibert v. State, 574 So.2d at 1062, this Court held:

> . Where uncontraverted evidence of a mitigating circumstance has been presented, a reasonable quantum of competent proof is required before the circumstance can be said to have been established. See Campbell. Thus, when a reasonable quantum of competent, uncontraverted evidence of a mitigating circumstance is presented, the trial court must find that the mitigating circumstance has been proved. A trial court may reject a defendant's claim that а mitigating circumstance has been proved, however,

> > - 48 -

provided that the record contains 'competent substantial evidence to support the trial court's rejection these mitigating of circumstances.' <u>Knight v. State</u>, 512 So.2d 922, 933 (Fla. 1987), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 485 U.S. 929, 108 S.Ct. 1100, 99 L.Ed.2d 262 (1988); Cook v. State, 542 So.2d 964, 971 (Fla. 1989) (trial court's discretion will not be disturbed if the record contains 'positive evidence' to refute evidence of the mitigating circumstance); see also Pardo v. State, 563 So.2d 77, 80 (Fla. 1990) (this court is not bound to accept a trial court's finding concerning mitigation if the findings are based on a misconstruction of undisputed facts or a misapprehension of law).

In <u>Nibert</u>, the court reversed and remanded for imposition of a sentence of life imprisonment where in part, expert testimony went unrefuted. The court held:

> In this instance, there was no competent, substantial evidence in the record to refute the mitigating evidence. Rather, the record shows that Nibert was a child abused, chronic alcoholic who lacks substantial control over his behavior when he drank, and that he had been drinking heavily on the day of Snavely's murder.

574 So.2d at 1063.

Likewise, in the instant case it was incumbent upon the State to come forward and demonstrate that the psychological testimony presented by Dillbeck was not unrefuted. Clearly Dr. McClaren's testimony brought into issue the correctness of Dr. Berland's and Dr. Woods' and Dr. Thomas' diagnoses that Dillbeck had a lack of impulse control. The fact that the State believed and persuasively argued to the trial court that it was imperative that Dr. McClaren also interview Dillbeck as did Dr. Berland, Dr. and Dr. Woods, does not bring into question Thomas the correctness of the trial court's ruling nor demonstrate that the

trial court abused its discretion. Albeit, Dillbeck points to the fact that other methods might have been employed to refute the defense's doctors, that alone again does not demonstrate an abuse of discretion by the trial court.

To suggest that the earlier decision in Parkin v. State, 238 So.2d 817 (Fla. 1970), prevents such an examination, is of no moment and distinguishable. First, Dillbeck testified at trial that he escaped from the Quincy Vocational Center (TR 1974); that he walked from Quincy to Tallahassee and stole clothes from a clothesline in order to change his clothing (TR 1976); that he slept in the woods so he would not be detected (TR 1974, 1977); that he bought sunglasses and bought a knife at Publix in order to have a weapon (TR 1978-1979); on cross examination he admitted he had started to plan for this escape for a long time (TR 1986); that he needed to stay in shape and ran (TR 1986); that he did not want to get caught and stole clothing on his way from Quincy to Tallahassee (TR 1988); that when he arrived in Tallahassee on Sunday morning, he went to Publix and he bought a knife because it was cheap and he needed a weapon which could be concealed (TR 1990-1991), and that he waited for an opportunity to get a ride to Orlando when he could not reach his friend and earlier in the day, he had taken the knife out of its packaging and made a sheath for it in case he needed it. (TR 1994-1996). To suggest as Dillbeck's has, that in some way, he was compelled to confess is simply in error. Indeed, in Parkin v. State, 238 So.2d 817, 822 (Fla. 1970), the court concluded:

> In answer to the questions certified to us by the district court, we hold that, where a

> > - 50 -

defendant in a criminal case serves notice that she will rely upon a defense of insanity and the court over her objections orders her aive testimonial to response to court appointed psychiatrists under pain of forfeiting the testimony of her privately engaged psychiatrist, the defendant's rights to freedom from self-incrimination are not invaded.

So, to, Dillbeck's claim must fail on two levels, first, nothing was presented to the trial court or the jury that Dr. McClaren obtained solely from his interview with Dillbeck; and second, under a similar theory at the penalty phase, once the State is informed that mental health mitigation is likely to be presented, the State must be given a fair and full opportunity to explore, and present, evidence to rebut the defense's expert testimony. The trial court sub judice did not rule on the applicability of the discovery rules with regard to sentencing and therefore the issue is not ripe in this case. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in ascertaining that a party made a colorable showing of need, to-wit: that the prosecution's expert believed it necessary that he examine Dillbeck as well as look at a plethora of other evidence in explaining his opinions. Dillbeck is entitled to no relief as to this claim.

## ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY THAT THE COULD CONSIDER, AS EVIDENCE OF GUILT, THE DEFENDANT'S FLIGHT

Dillbeck next argues that the jury instruction given with regard to flight (TR 2094-2095), was error. He asserts that "after defense objection (T 2030-31), the court made a modified instruction. . . . " (Appellant's Brief at 67), suggesting that

- 51 -

the issue has been properly preserved for appellate review. The State would submit that the record bares out that although an objection was made by defense counsel with regard to the flight instruction, the objection covered neither of the arguments herein presented, to-wit: that "the evidence of Dillbeck's fleeing the parking lot after stabbing Vann does not constitute flight," or that there is no justification for giving such an instruction at all. (Appellant's Brief at 67). In fact, the record reflects at (TR 2030):

> MR. MURRELL: I certainly concede there has been evidence as to flight, but I would object to it for one reason. The last sentence, it says - - well, the last clause there, it says, 'Such may be shown in evidence as one of a series of circumstances from which guilt can be inferred.' In my view, the trouble with this instruction is the jury may take it to mean that you can assume or that you can infer he is guilty of first degree murder, premeditated murder, simply because he fled the scene. I don't think that's accurate. What you can infer is that he committed some sort of a crime. But, I don't think that tells you anything about whether or not this crime was premeditated. And I think it leads the jury to the impression that they can conclude he is guilty of premeditated murder simply because he fled the scene. I would suggest that it read 'Such may be shown in evidence as one of a series of circumstances from which it may be inferred that he committed a crime. Or that the accused committed a crime.'

(TR 2030-2031).

The court concurred with defense counsel's objection and recommendation (TR 2031), and no further objection was raised with regard to this instruction. (TR 2032, 2106).

The cases are legion that in order to preserve a point on appeal, a timely and specific objection must be raised below.

See for example Sochor v. State, 580 So.2d 595 (Fla. 1991). In the instant case, defense counsel got exactly what he desired, a modification of the flight instruction after he conceded that the evidence supported a flight instruction. To suggest that he is now able to raise the claim on appeal is wrong. To suggest that there is any merit to this claim is equally wrong. The State is not unmindful of the recent decision in Fenelon v. State, So.2d (Fla. 1992), 17 F.L.W. S112, wherein the court determined that because of inconsistencies among cases, "as well as with the lack of a meaningful standard for assessing what type of evidence merits the instruction", specifically, the flight instruction, "we are thus persuaded that the better policy in future cases where evidence of flight has been properly admitted is to reserve, and to counsel, rather than to the court. . . . " Accordingly, we approve the result below although we direct that henceforth the jury instruction on flight should not be given." 17 F.L.W. at S113. Clearly, Fenelon, supra, is not applicable to the instant case because of its prospective impact. With regard to the underlying determination that the instruction in Fenelon was harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt, State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129, 1139 (Fla. 1986), Fenelon controls.

<u>Sub</u> judice, defense counsel conceded the evidence was sufficient to warrant the flight instruction. Unlike <u>Wright v.</u> <u>State</u>, 586 So.2d 1029 (Fla. 1991), Dillbeck's actions were not merely fleeing the scene of the crime. Moreover, while the court has now suggested that there is no rational meaning given the flight instruction per <u>Fenelon</u>, Dillbeck's "fundamental question

- 53 -

there is no justification for giving such an instruction at all", is error. <u>Fenelon</u>, <u>supra</u>, urges that a flight instruction is unwarranted not because it would be inappropriate in all cases but rather because it has been inconsistently interpreted. In <u>Vinigra v. State</u>, <u>So.2d</u> (Fla. 3rd DCA 1992), 17 F.L.W. D907, the Third District Court of Appeals had no difficulty even after <u>Fenelon</u> was decided in determining that the trial court properly instructed the jury therein as to flight. The facts of that case are very similar to the ones <u>sub</u> judice.

Terminally, as previously noted the State would submit that if this Court should find that defense counsel properly objected to the instruction and that the issue is properly before the Court, and that the instruction was unwarranted, any error is harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt. The record is replete with evidence of Dillbeck's conduct after he murdered Mrs. Vann; he fled the scene on foot, having wrecked her car, and was chased by Samuel Bradley until almost the time he was caught. Based on the evidence in the instant case, any error satisfies <u>State v.</u> <u>DiGuilio, supra. See also Dailey v. State, \_\_\_\_\_\_</u> So.2d \_\_\_\_\_\_(Fla. 1992), 17 F.L.W. S187, and <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 575 So.2d 181, 188-189 (Fla. 1991).

### ISSUE V

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING DR. HARRY MCCLAREN, A PSYCHOLOGIST TESTIFYING FOR THE STATE, TO TESTIFY ABOUT THE REASON HE BELIEVED DILLBECK ENGAGED ΙN "PURPOSEFUL RATIONAL BEHAVIOR" AS WHAT HE OBSERVED WAS NOT THE SUBJECT OF EXPERT TESTIMONY AND INVADED THE PROVINCE OF THE JURY, IN VIOLATION THE OF DEFENDANT 'S SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS TO A FAIR TRIAL

Dillbeck next argues that it was error for Dr. Harry McClaren to recite a list of factors that he considered in concluding that Dillbeck was able to engage in purposeful rational, goal oriented behavior. The record reflects at (TR 2602), that Dr. McClaren was asked whether in his opinion the defendant was able to engage in purposeful goal oriented behavior in June of 1990. In response to said question, McClaren stated:

> . . . I started to make a list of reasons why Mr. Dillbeck was able to engage in purposeful rational behavior and within a fairly short period of time was able to come up with between twenty-five and thirty reasons, and after the evaluation to find more, and was ultimately able to have a list of over thirty reasons why.

(TR 2602).

An objection was raised by defense counsel at this point (TR 2603), that the chart was nothing more than a closing argument for the prosecution. Defense counsel further argued:

Secondly, I would object because it relies on statements given to him by the defendant about the offense and under <u>Parkin</u>, he may not be permitted to testify to that. <u>Parkin</u> says it would violate the defendant's Fifth Amendment right.

(TR 2603).

Following further discussion, the court observed:

This witness should not be allowed to testify to any matters that were revealed to him by this defendant during a court ordered examination that have not been otherwise testified to by some other witness prior to this time.

(TR 2608).

The court further observed:

My understanding of what the question is to this witness is what is the basis for your opinion. And this witness went through the exercise of determining matters that he relied on in arriving at his opinion. And I think that's perfectly legitimate testimony by an expert witness. . . . Now are there any matters on this list other than seventeen, eighteen and nineteen that you feel should because they not come in have not previously -- its not previously been before the jury? . . .

(TR 2609).

At which point, defense counsel argued:

It's hard to tell what he's relying on. I don't know whether he is relying on what the defendant told him or what he read it someplace else.

(TR 2609).

The court stated:

I will overrule the defense objection with regard to all of those except seventeen, eighteen and nineteen.

(TR 2610).

Defense counsel did not renew his objection to any of Dr. McClaren's testimony thereafter.

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